7 % yUNlTED
S22 NATIONS

United Nations Diplomatic Conference Distr
of Plenipotentiaries on the Establishment GENERAL
of an International Criminal Court

A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
20 November 1998

Rome, Italy ORIGINAL: ENGLISH
15 June-17 July 1998

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 15th MEETING
Held at the Headquarters of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
on Wednesday, 24 June 1998, at 3 p.m.

Chairman Mr. P. KIRSCH (Canada)

CONTENTS

Agenda item Paragraphs

11 Consideration of the question concerning the finalization and adoption
of a convention on the establishment of an international criminal court
in accordance with General Assembly resolut®h®07 of
17 Decembet 996 and 52/160 of 15d2embefl 997 ¢ontinued 1-132

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages, set forth in a memorandum and/or incorporated in aremoydf the
They should be sent under the signature of a member of the delegation concerned to the Chief of the Official RecordstbditiRgp&a
DC2-750, United Nations, New York.

In accordance with the rules of procedure for the Conference, corrections may be submitted within five working daysrafittitre ¢
of the record. Any corrections to the records of the meetings of the Committee of the Whole will be consolidated in aigergiion

V.98-57468 (E)


<<ODS JOB NO>>V9857648e<<ODS JOB NO>> <<ODS DOC SYMBOL1>>A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15<<ODS DOC SYMBOL1>> <<ODS DOC SYMBOL2>><<ODS DOC SYMBOL2>> 


A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 2

The meeting was called to order at 3.10 p.m.

CONSIDERATION OF THE QUESTION CONCERNING THE FINALIZATION ~ AND ADOPTION OF A
CONVENTION ON THE ESTABLISHMENT OF AN INTE RNATIONAL CRIMINAL COURT IN
ACCORDANCE WITH GENERAL A SSEMBLY RESOLUTIONS 51/207 OF 17 DECEMBER 1996 AND
52/160 OF 15 DECEMBER 1997continued (A/CONF.183/2Add.1 and Corr.1)

Part 4 of the draft Statut@ontinued

1. The CHAIRMAN said that, in the light of the discussions at the previeesing, it might be useful to hold
informal consultations on four of the provisions that the Coordinator had suggested could be referrexhftiripe D
Committee, namely article 39, paragraph 3 (a), article 45, paragraph 3, article 48 and article 51.

2. Heinvited the Committee to continue its consideration of the cluster of articles that it had taken up at the previous
meetng (“cluster 1"): articles 35, 36, 37 and 40.

3. Ms. PAVLIKOVSKA (Ukraine) said that she was fairly flexible about paragraph 2 of article @dded that
the principle of equitable geographical distribution set outairagraph 8 (c) was taken into agnt. Regarding
paragraph 1 of article 37, equitable geographical distobwtould have a direct impact on States’ trust in the judges.
The number of judges should not be less than 18. Thaithvallow at least two judges from each geographical group.

4. Mr. Young-wook CHUN (Republic of Korea) said that he favoured a single pre-trial chamber in article 35.
Regarding article 36, the problem of full-time versus part-time judges was a financial matter, and should be decided
on by States parties depending on the workload. On the qualifications of judges under article 37, all judges should be
experienced in criminal law, have an understanding of different cultures and legal systems and be in a position to take
into account the circumstances of each criminal. Equitable geographical distribution, therefore, deserved serious
consideration. If election through a nominating committee or sicig@rocess was adopted, there would be a problem

as to who would assess the qualification of a nhominee and the standard applied. He therefore supported option 1 in
article 37. Although he was flexible on the issue, he would prefer one or three judges in a pre-trial chamber, three
judges in a trial chamber and five judges in an appeals chamber.

5. Mr. AGBETOMEY (Togo), referring to article 35, said that he favoured a plurality of pre-trial chambers. As

for article 36, a permanent court would require full-time judges to make it effective. The number of judges to be
provided for in article 37 would depend on the number of chambers and the number of judges in each. The judges must
be highly qualified and of high moralatacter. He queisined the provision ingragraph 6 that “no twjodges may

be nationals of the same State”, since competence should ¢akegmce over riahality. In paragraph 10 of article

37, he would opt for a mandate of five years, renewable once. Age would then not be a problem.

6. Mr. SALINAS (Chile) said that there should be pre-trial chambers, trial chambers and appeals chambers. He was
flexible on article 36, but thought it desirable that the Court be composed of full-time judges. He agreed on the need
in article 37 to heed geographical factors and budgetary limitations. An appropriate number of judges would be about
seventeen, sufficient to allow a balance between experience in criminal law, public international law and international
humanitarian law. In paragraph 4, hedared option 1. Ing@agraph 5, he supported the aétetbf judges by a two-

thirds majority of States parties. As to paragraph 8, he agreed with subparagraphs (a), (c), (d) and (e). With regard to
(e), the link with article 5, concerning crimes against humanity, especially gender crimes, should be taken into account.
Paragraph 9auld be deleted because no age limit was needed.



A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 3

7. Mr. MONETTI (ltaly) said that a pre-trial chamber or chambers was essential and could be composed of a single
judge. Rotation was possible, although a judge could not sit in the Pre-Trial Chamber amndl &ls@mber in the same

case. In article 36, the second sentence, in square brabkets), Ise deleted. He would like to see an article containing
criteria for assigning judges to chambers, to control the autlgiviy to the Presidency. Judges should be elected by

an absolute majority vote of the Assembly of States Parties on the basis of their expertise and experiektist A chec

of requirementstwuld be drawn up and sent to States to assist them in assessing candidates’ qualifications. The
judge’s term of office should not be renewable, because the wish of a judge to be confirmed in higybtficfuence

his decisions.

8. Mr. Sayyid Said Hilal AL-BUSAIDY (Oman) said that the references to appeals, trial and pre-trial chambers

in article 35 (b) should be deleted. The President or the Court should determine the number of chambers required.
Article 36 should provide for full-time judges, toayantee impartiality. As to article 37, he agreed that competence

and high moral character were essential quaiifioatfor judges, and he had no difficulty iccapting mragraph 3 (b)

(i), concerning recognized competence in international law, criminal law, international humanitarian law and human
rights law. Election of judgesinder mragraph 5,Hould require a two-thirds majority vote of the Assembly of States
Parties. In paragraph 8, heéaired the inclusion of subpagraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d), on repres@naif the main

legal systems and forms of civilization in the world, equitable geographical distribution and gender balance.
Subparagraph (e) wasnecessary. He had no objection aoggraph 9. In paragraph 10, hewld prefer a nine-year
non-renewable term of office. As proposed in the second sentence, one third of those elected at the first election could
serve for three years, one third for six years and the rest for nine years. The Pre-Trial Chamber should have five
members.

9. Mr. KESSEL (Canada) supported article 37, paragraph 8 (d), and said that gender balance was one important
factor to be taken into account in the nomination process. The Platform for Action adopted by the Beijing World
Conference on Women, in its paragrdgl2, called on Governments to aim for gender balance when ninginat
promoting candidates for judicial and other positions in international bodies such as the United Nations International
Tribunals for the Former Yugoslavia and Rwanda. The experience of those Tribunals had demonstrated the benefit of
expertise in issues related to sexual and gender violence.

10. Mr. SHARIAT BAGHERI (Islamic Republic of Iran) agreed with article 37, paragraph 3, on quéadifisadf
judges. A combination of extensive experience of criminal law and competence in intedHatv was ecessary. He
agreed with paragraphs 1 and 2 of article 3thoumt the bracketed reference to geographical distributioaramgpaph
1, because that was covered in paragraph 8. Aaremmph 4, he supported iopt 1, with the term “StatBarty” and
without the reference to national groups. The last sentence should be deleted.

11. Inparagraph 8, he supported subparagraphs (a) and (c). The otaeagamhs had drawbacks. The very notion

of gender balance was based on discrimination between the sexes and the term gave rise to difficulties of understanding
and interpretation. He also wondered why, in subgraph (e), there was a need to inergpeciakts in sexual and

similar forms of violence; why not also speatdiin crimes such as torture, etc.?

12. Onarticles 35 and 40, he favoured a pre-trial chamber withjtidigees, two trial chambers with five judges each
and an appeals chamber with seven judges. The judges should be elected for a five-year term, non-renewable, so that
they would not be influenced by political considerations.

13. Mr. AL ANSARI (Kuwait) said that article 35 should provide for a single, permanent pre-trial chamber. Judges
should be dill-time under article 36. The number of judges should take into account theenegpiis of article 37,



A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 4

paragraph 8. In article 37, paragrapfa®, the text in the first set of square brackbtsufd be deleted, since in acting

on behalf of the Court the President would be acting on behalf of all States parties. The text in square brackets in
paragraph 3 (a)huld be kept. As togragraph 3 (b), thpidges should have at least 10 years’ criminal trial
experience. In paragraph 4, he was irofa of option 1 and the wording “Stearty”. Electon, under pragraph 5,

should be by a two-thirds majority. He did not agree on the need for the age liemagngph 9. Paragraph lifosild

provide for a single term of nine years. Concerning article @@gpaph 1, the Appeals Chambleodd be composed

of five judges and the last sentence should be retained.

14. Ms. STEAINS (Australia) saw merit in including the words “extensive criminal law experience” in article 37,
paragraph 3 (b). The regement for 10 years’ experience wamecessary. She also recognized the importance of
competence in international law within the membership of the Court. The compaosition of the different chambers should
reflect the nature of the responsibilities of each, judges with criminal law experience predominating in the Pre-Trial
and Trial Chambers and a balance of judges with international law and criminal law experience in the Appeals
Chamber. In paragraph 8, she preferred the forinalétake into account the need for” to the weaker “bear in mind”.
Subparagraph (bhsuld be deleted because the concept was outmoded. She supported the inclusion of references to
representation of the principal legal systems of the world and to equitable geographical distribution.

15. She strongly endorsed the need for gender balance, as well as expertise on issues relating to sexual and gender
violence, andiiolence against children, within tmeembership of the Court. Women ardldren were often the
victims of the crimes which would fall within its jurisdiction.

16. Mr. MOURID (Morocco), referring to article 35, said that the Court could be limited to an appeals chamber, a
trial chamber and a pre-trial chamber. Each chamber could set up additional chambers where the caseload so required.
The full-time appintment of judges would allow them to discharge their functions properly, free from outside
influence. He was flexible on paragraph 1 of article 37, but timengd be a minimum number of judges. Brggraph

4, he preferred option 1. In paragraph 5, beld prefer election by a two-thirds majority of States parasagraph

8 should read “StatdRarties shall take into amant”, followed by the list of criteria. He favoured sabggraph (a)
concerning representation of the principal legal systems of the world aretagiaph (c) on equitable geographical
distribution. On the question of working languages, article &fagraph 2,tould be retained in the intsts of

ensuring justice.

17. Mr. DA COSTA LOBO (Portugal) said that in principle, in article 35, he favoured “Pre-Trial Chambers” in the
plural. As to article 36, judges should serve on a full-time basis. Article 3dnsiasibtedly one of the most important.

He saw expertise in criminal law and in international law as alternatives. In that connection, he was very much in
sympathy with the suggestion for a screemmaghanism between nomiiat and election. That would give States

better information on individual judges and would make it easier to consider the composition of the Court as a whole.
The election itself should be by athste majority in a secret ballot. The Appeals Chamber and Trial Chamber should
have at least five judges each.

18. Mr. NIYOMRERKS (Thailand) thought that provision should be made for more than one Pre-Trial Chamber

in article 35. Under article 36, full-time judges could serve alternately on a rotational basis in the Pre-Trial and Trial
Chamber, but should serve in only one Chamber at a given time. In artickr@graph 2 (a), heould prefer the

deletion of all the brackets. Undeaagraph 3 (bjudges should have criminal law experience as well as competence

in international law, international humanitarian law and human rights law. Uadsgraph 4, States parties and not
national groups should nominate judges, and they should be elected by a two-thirds majority vote of the Assembly of
States Parties. He supported paragraph Bidimg the references to gender balance and special expertise.



A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 5

19. Under article 40,gragraph 3, the Presidendyosild assign judges to trial and pre-trial chambers in accordance
with the Rules of Procedure and Evidence. He would prefer a small number of judges in each chamber, and was flexible
on the term of office.

20. Ms. SHAHEN (Libyan Arab Jamahiriya) said that her position was flexible as to whether, in article 35 (b), there
should be a sepate pre-trial chamber or nbinder article 36, the judgebauld @rry out their fundbns on a full-time

basis. Under article 37, she would prefer there to be 18 judgesadgraph 4, she supportedioptl, with the use

of the expression “State Party”. Under paragraph Sutlges of the Court should be elected by a two-thirds majority
vote of the Assembly of States Parties. As for paragraph 8, she agreed with subparagraphs riagctivecer
representation of the principal legal systems of the world, (c) on equitable geographical distribution and (d) on gender
balance. Subparagraph (e) was not essential, because expenidderequired in all areas covered by the Court.
Under @ragraph 10judges should be appointed for a nine-year term.

21. The general rule for article 40 should be that a judge could nanbmber of more than one chamber.

22. Mr. MORSHED (Bangladesh) said that the functions contemplatedift drticle 13 bould be performed by
a pre-trial chamber, its composition based on the principle of equitable geographical representation and reflecting the
major legal systems of the world.

23. Mr. SOH (Cameroon) supported a single pre-trial chamber in article 35. An independent and impartial court
required full-time judges, who should have high intellectual and moral qualities and professional competence in both
criminal law and international humanitarian law. They should be elected by States parties by a two-thirds majority,
taking into account the provisions of sabgmraphs 8 (a), (b), (c) and (e) efagraph 8. He faured a nine-year, non-
renewable term for judges. The number should be the strict miniezessary for the smooth functioning of the Court.

24. Mr. KIFLI (Brunei Darussalam) had no objection to article Zfagraph 8 (e), on the need for expertise on
issues related to sexual and gender violence. He agreed that, aradgaph Sjudges should not be over the age of
65 at the time of election. Regardingragraph 10, heauld prefer judges to hold office for a non-renewable term of
nine years.

25. Mr. KAM (Burkina Faso) said that he was in favour of the professional qualificationamguits fojudges

in article 37, but that they should be alternatives. Asdoagraph 8, the eléoh of judges should take account of the
principal legal systems of the world and equitable geographical distribution, but not the aspects mentioned in
subparagraphs (d) and (e). The term of offfeeudd be at least nine years, but non-renewable. The number of judges
would vary depending on the Court’s caseload.

26. Mr. AL ADHAMI (Iraq) supported a single pre-trial chamber. Under article 36, judges should serve on a full-
time basis to guarantee their impartiality amdependence. In article 37agagraph 4, he supported igpt 1 and
nomination by States parties. Undaragraph 5judges should be elected by secret ballot by a two-thirds majority of
States parties present and voting, and the quorum should be one half of the States paatiagralphp8, the
representation of the principal legal systems of the world, equitable geographical distribution and gender balance were
valid criteria. He supportedapagraph 9Under @ragraph 10judges should be elected for a term of five years,
renewable for one term.

27. Under article 40, the Appeals Chamber should be made up of five judges.



A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 6

28. Mr. FORTUNA (Mozambique) supported several trial chambers in article 35 (b). In article 36, he supported full-
time judges. The main qualifi¢ah for judges, in article 37, should be long experience of criminal trials, followed by

a background in international criminal law or human rights. Regardiragpaph 4 of article 37, he preferred option

2. He supported paragraphs 5, 6 and 7ahagraph 8, he ould prefer to delete submgraph (b). In paragraph 9, he
supported an age limit of 65 to encourage participation by younger people. @ralgraph 10, a three-year term
would allow greater rotation. Finally, in article 40, the minimum composition of the Appeals Chamber should be three
judges.

29. Ms. LA HAYE (Bosnia and Herzegovina) said that the reference to geographical distribution in the bracketed
text to article 37, paragraph 1, might not be sufficient. Considerslhould be given to the different cultural and legal
traditions wihin each geographical area. She therefore proposed that, in artickr@gdraph 1, the phrase “and
appropriate consideration shall be given to cultural and legal traditions” should be added at the end of the sentence in
square brackets, and that a new subparagraghis/C)appropriate representation of different cultural and legal
traditions”, should be added tagagraph 8.

30. Ms. RWAMO (Burundi) said that the principle of equitable geographical disivibutas essential in recruiting

judges with a balance of viewpoints. She wasvindia of a hon-renewable nine-year term. Article 3atagraph 8 (e),

calling for the inclusion among the judges of experts in sexual and gender violence, should be maintained. She firmly
supported subparagraph (d) on gender balance; experience inauatnes had already shown the effectiveness of
women judges.

31. Mr. KERMA (Algeria) said that the Court should have at least one Pre-trial Chasniger. article 36, full-time

judges would facilitate the smooth operation of the Court, but the aligilabfinancial resources must be taken into
account. Under article 37, the total number of judges would depend on the composition of each chamber, but should
not be less than 17. It should be for the Assembly of SPateies to elect thedges. There was no need to specify

the number of years of experience, but judges must have expertise in criminal law and international law. Regarding
paragraph 4, he¥aured opibn 1, with the expression “StaRarty”. He had no special problems with the content of
paragraph 8, but emphasized represiemtaif the main legal systems of the world and the principle of equitable
geographical distribution. Paragraph 9 was acceptable. For paragraptoh@.eaewable nine-year termesned the

most reasonable. He was in favour of the ideamagraph 11.

32. Mr. PEREZ OTERMIN (Uruguay) said that article 35 (b) and article 36 required a flexible approach, since the
eventual workload was unknown. Initially, at least, judges should serve on a full-time basis, after which the position
should be reviewed. The qualification reguairents in article 37 ,gvagraph 3 (b),l®uld not be cumulative, but the
gualifications of the judges collectively must encompass criminal trial experience and international law. The
requirement in sutgragraph (c) relatg to working languages was perhaps excessive; that should be regarded as a
secondary matter.

33. The election of judges also required a flexible approach. Initially judges should be elected by the
United Nations General Assembly. Only later should the Assembly of Btatiss elect them.

34. Mr. ADDO (Ghana) favoured a single pre-trial chamber. An appeals chamber was essential. Article 36 should
provide for full-time judges, and they should be 21 in numberjudgges must have both criminal trial experience and
competence in international law. The existmgchanisms for eldoh in the United Nations system could be used to
elect the judges of the Court.



A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 7

35. He agreed with the provisions in article 3&tggraph 8, on the represeitatof the principal legal systems,
equitable geographical distribution and gender balance but favoured the deletion arfagragh (b), “the
representation of the main forms of civilization”.

36. Ms. RAMOUTAR (Trinidad and Tobago), supported kly. McCOOK (Jamaica), said that the Pre-Trial
Chamber in article 35 was necessary to ensure the performance of important functions described elsewhere in the
Statute. A single Pre-Trial Chamber should be established in the first instance and, as ardaegisanyn additional
chambers could be established by the Court itself.

37. Article 37 should provide for highly qualified judges with criminal trial experienc&rmadledge of international
law. She was not in favour of the screening process proposed for iomifatandidates, which might open the door
to political and other influences. She preferred nomination by States parties.

38. Mr. PANIN (Russian Federation) said that a single pre-trial chamber would be preferable, but the volume of
work might require additional pre-trial chambers. Only the judges making up the Presidency should be full-time. The
remainder could be convened by the Presidency as required. They must be highly experienced and well qualified in
criminal law and have recognized competence in international law. A proper balance must be struck. In a trial chamber,
priority might perhaps be given to judges with experience in criminal justice.

39. With reference to paragraph 4 of article 3'hdidates should be nominated by States parties and the judges
should be elected by the Assembly of St&adies by a two-thirds majority for a termrifie years. That would help
to ensure the greatest possible independence on the part of the judges.

40. Rotation might be possible between Trial and Pre-Trial Chambers, but not with the Appeals Chamber.

41. In electing judges, the Assembly of StaResties hould take into account the need for representation of the
principal legal systems of the world and equitable geographical distribution. The ethents of pragraph 8 of
article 37 had no bearing on ensuring an impartial criminal justice system.

42. Ms. TOMI C (Slovenia) strongly supported article 3aragraph 8, subparagraphs (d) and (e).

43. Mr. MANIWA (Democratic Republic of the Congo) said that judges required above all a high racaateth

and technical competence. The principal legal systems should be represented. Equitable geographical distribution was
needed. The reference to the main forms of civilization could be deleted, and a mathematical gender balance would be
unnecessary.

44. The CHAIRMAN recalled what he had said at the beginning ofribeing. It was his understanding that the
following provisions could be referred to theafiing Committee: article 35.gvagraphs (a), (c) and (d); article 39,
paragraphs 1 and 2; article 41; article 4&agraphs 1 and 2; artielé; and article 50. Article 39 gpagraph 3 (a),
article 45, paragraph 3, and articles 48 and &dldvbe the subject of informal consultations.

45, It was so decided.

46. The CHAIRMAN invited the Coordinator fdPart 4 to intoduce “cluster 2": article 38; article 3%unagraphs
3 (b) and 4; articles 42 to 44; article 4ay@graph 4; and articles 47, 49, 52 and 53.



A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 8

47. Mr. RWELAMIRA (South Africa), Coordinator foPart 4, said that theidid not £em to be any major
problems with paragraph 1 of article 38. There might be a need to consider paragraph 2, thieisahether a judge
elected to fill a judicial vacancy should be eligible for re-election after completing his or hecgssal’s term, or
whether that should be dependent on the period of the term remaining.

48. Article 39, paragraph 4, raised a matter of principle diggithe exact relationship between the Presidency and
the Prosecutor.

49. Article 42 dealt with the excusing and disqualification of judges. It might be best to leave the situation envisaged
in paragraph 1 to bgoverned by the internal rules of the Court. He would therefore suggest that the second of the
bracketed alternatives in paragraphitidd be used. The issue raisedanggraph 2 was whether mmatality should

be a ground for disqualifidan and, if so, the scope of application of that principlealmgraph 3, the quésh was

who had the right to request the disqualification of a judge, and whether that right should be extended to an interested
State. In view of the indeterminate nature of the term “interested State”, it might be useful to confine that right to the
Prosecutor and the accused, but that should be discussed.

50. He suggested that the issue of the ex officio powers of the Prosecati@graph 1 of article 43 be deferred until

the formulation in article 12 and other articles related to the tripgehanism was settled. The issueanggraph 2

seemed largely to depend on the discussion of article 47, concerning removal from office. Another important issue was
whether the Prosecutor and the Deputy Prosecutor or Prosecutors should serve on a full-time or a part-time basis.

51. Paragraph 3 of article 43 raised an issue daygskills and qualifications, namely whether the Prosecutor and
the Deputy Prosecutor should have trial or prosecution experience. In order to allow flexibility, it might be desirable
to opt for the expression “extensive experience” rather than specify a number of years.

52. In paragraph 4 of article 43, one proposal was that the Deputy Proskouldriz appointed by the Prosecutor.
That was related to the proposal in article 47, paragraph 2 (c), that the Prodemultbbe able to remove the Deputy
Prosecutor from office. Those issues might need discussion.

53. Paragraph 7 of article 43 dealt with disqualification. The iquest the relevance of nationality should probably
be considered in conjunction with the issue raised in article d@gmph 2. A related issue was whether
disqualification should be decided on by the Presidency, the Appeals Chamber or the judges of the Court.

54. Paragraph 9, in square bracketsyjuted that the Prosecutor should appoint advisers with expertise on specific
issues such as gender violence. One solution might be to include that particular provision in the Rules of Procedure and
Evidence rather than in the Statute.

55. Paragraph 10 would provide for the protection of withesses called by the popseout for the inclusion in the
Prosecutor’s staff of people with expertise in trauma and matters related tovsabenak. The issue might better be
considered under article 44anagraph 4, which euld establish a “Victims and Witnesses Unit”.

56. Under article 44 itself, issues that arose were whether the States partigadyethshould elect the Regéast,
what majority would be required and whether the Deputy Registoaidsbe elected or appointdearagraph 4 raised
issues also covered by article 68, paragraph 5, in Part 6 of the draft Statute. Tiba qtidst proper location of the
paragraph, if it was imeded, might have to be considered.



A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 9

57. Article 45, paragraph 4, allowing pensiel seconded from States and organizations to assist in the work of organs
of the Court, was controversial.

58. With regard to article 47, an issue that arose was whether it should be possible for the Deputy Prosecutor to be
removed from office by the Prosecutor or only by the States pattiesgraph 3 raised the issue whetheritias

of those whose conduct was challenged should be governed by the Rules of Procdevideane or the Regulations

of the Court. As such matters were central to the functioning of the Court, he suggested that the Committee might
consider whether they should not be governed by the Rules of Procedure and Evidence.

59. Article 52 dealt with the Rules of Procedure and Evidence and raised the question whether they should be an
integral part of the Statute and annexed to it, as provided for in option drémgraph 1. Thateuld have implications

for ratification and possibly also for signatuBption 2 was much more flexible. It provided merely that the Rules,
which might possibly be adopted together with the Statute, should not be inconsistent with the Stanaigrdptp

2, the majority needed for the adoption of amendments to the Rules of Procedure and Evidence would need to be
considered.

60. Finally, article 53, on the Regulations of the Court, raised three problems. The first issue was whether they should
be adopted by a two-thirds or an absolute majority of the judges. The second issue coreegdedqarin the case

of a conflict between the Rules of Procedure and Evidence and the Regulations of the Court. The third issue related to
the role of States parties in the elaboration of the Regulations.

61. Mr. ADDO (Ghana) said that he was satisfied with the thrust of article 42, and urged the removal of the brackets
in paragraphs 2 and 3. Theopisions of article 43 were adequate, but the functionaiagraph 10 wuld be better
performed by the Office of the Registrar. He was notvoda of article 45, pragraph 4.

62. Mr. McCOOK (Jamaica) wished to see article 45, paragraph 4, deleted. The staff of thehGaldthe

employed in accordance with its needs under the relevant provisions of the Statfutho8Ikd not be seconded from

other bodies; concerns about so-called “gratis” personnel had been the subject of extensive discussions in other United
Nations forums.

63. Mr. DIVE (Belgium) agreed to article 38amagraph 2, and article 39, paragrapm4pto and proposed the
deletion of the square brackets. In article 42, he wasviufaof the first two pragraphs; he f@mured the first
bracketed alternative in paragraph 1 and the removal of the square brackets in paragraph 2.

64. In article 43, paragraph 1, the text in square bracketddsbe kept. He favoured keepingragraph 9 and
deleting paragraph 10. The rules on pratector witnesses should be a matter for the ReggisHe was therefore in
favour of keeping @ragraph 4 of article 44. The Registhould be appointed by the judges, with a term of office of
nine years, in line with that of the judges and the Prosecutor.

65. In article 45, he favoured keepingragraph 4. The rules in article 47, paragraph@,lsl be the same for the
Deputy Prosecutor as the Prosecutor, and the first subparagrapbuld) tse deleted.

66. Under article 49,gragraph 1, therestild be the same privileges and immunities for the judges, the Prosecutor,
the Deputy Prosecutor, the Registrar and the Deputy Registrar. In paragraph 4, the first bracketed alternative in
subparagraph (ahsuld be chosen, and swypgraph (b)sould be deleted.



A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 10

67. In article 52, he was in favour of option 2. The Rules of Procedure and Evidence should be adopted by a two-
thirds majority of States present and voting in the Assembly of States Parties. There should be no link with the adoption
of the Statute. The emergency procedureairagraph 3tsould also require a two-thirds majority.

68. As for article 53, paragraph 1, he was votm of adopibn of the Regulations by an absolute majority of judges,
because if a two-thirds majority was not obtained the Court might have no regulations. The last sentence in brackets
should be deleted.

69. Mr. BELLO (Nigeria) said he wished to point out that, if it was decided that judges should serve full-time, there
would be no need forgragraph 3 of article 41.

70. Under article 43, both the Prosecutor and the Deputy Proseeatdd serve full-time and be elected by an
absolute majority of the States parties. émggraph 8, disqualificain of the Prosecutor or the Deputy Prosecutor
should be decided on by the Presidency.

71. Inarticle 44, paragraph 2, tluelges should, by an absolute majority, elect a Regiand a Deputy Registrar.
Paragraph 4 of that articleauld be moved to article 43. It was the Prosecutor who had direct contact with the victims
and the witnesses and who shoalichnge for assistance to them.

72. Paragraph 4 of article 46udd be deleted. The issues concerned should be dealt Adrts 9 and 10 of the

Statute. Alternatively, that provision could be worded: “The Presidency or the Prosecutor may request the assistance
of personnel from any State Party, intergovernmental or non-governmental oiganinahe exercise of his functions

under this Statute.”

73. In article 47, paragraph 2, removal from office of both the Prosecutor and the Deputy Proketiddres

decided on by a majority of the States parties. He agreed with the proposal for an additional article appearing in
footnote 28 of document A/CONF.18342id.1. In article 49, paragraphs 1 anchddd be aligned so that the officers

in question enjoyed the same diplomatic privileges and immunities in the exercise of their duties under the Statute.

74. Mr. MATSUDA (Japan) thought that the reference in article 42agraph 1,lsould be to the Regulations of

the Court rather than the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, for the reasons given earlier by the Cdeacingimh

2, on the grounds for the disqualification of judges, was very important in terms of the independence and the
impartiality of the Court. The grounds for disqualification must be in the Statute itself rather than in the Rules of
Procedure and Evidence. The bracketed language in d@nagrpph lsould be retained. Ingsagraph 3pnly the
Prosecutor or the accused should have the right to request the disqualification of a judge.

75. In article 49, paragraph 1, he supported diplomaivilges and immunities for judges, the Prosecutor and
Deputy Prosecutors, but the Registrar and the Deputy Registrald come undergragraph 2. In paragraph 2, the
privileges and immunities enjoyed should be in line with those of affectttheUnited NationsParagraph 2 ight

therefore be amended so that the officials concerned would enjoy “such privileges and immunities as are accorded to
officials of the United Nations under article 5 of the Convention on ikiéeges andmmunities of the United Nations

of 13 February 1946”. The first sentence afagraph 3 wascaeptable in principle but the reference to counsel and
experts should be clarified. The second sentence was superfluous; it wasassary to accord such immunities to
counsel and witnesses. Their correct treatment was sufficiently ensured by the first sentence.



A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 11

76. Mr. PANIN (Russian Federation) would prefer the deletionasBgraph 4 of article 39 and the reference to
interested States in article 42, paragraph 3. In paragraph 4 of article 43, both the Prosecutor and the Deputy Prosecutor
should be elected by the States parties. He had noiohjezfmragraphs 9 and 10 of that articléngetransferred to

the Rules of Procedure and Evidence. In article dfagraph 4, he hatbubts regating personnel being detailed by
non-governmental organizations. In article 47, he agreed with the formulatioara§rpph 2 (a). The Deputy
Prosecutor and the Registraiosld be removed from office by a decision of the States parties. The Deputy Registrar
could be removed by the judges.

77. Finally, the Rules of Procedure and Evidence should be an integral part of the Statute.

78. Mr. NYASULU (Malawi) said that article 38 auld depend on whether article 37 provided for re-election of
judges. A person replig a judge whose term had not yet expired should enjoy the same eligibility for re-election as
his predecessor. In article 39, paragraph 3, the Preshintshave responsibility for administration of the Court,
which would include supervision of the Registand staff, but the words in bracketesld not be retained because
they implied an undue restriction on the RegistThe Courtlsould be left to develop its own interraalangments

for effective implementain of the Statute.

79. In article 42, paragraph 1, the referertoeusd be to the Regulations of the Court. &rggraph 2, whether
nationality $iould be a ground for disqualification might depend on the circumstances of the particular case. In
paragraph 3, a Stateauld not be Bowed to ask for the disqualification of a judge. The Court would be dealing with
individuals, and the matter should be left to the individuals concerned or the Prosecutor.

80. In paragraph 2 of article 43, prosecutdreutd serve on a full-time basis. He would prefer “extensive ...
experience” to “ten years ... experience” in paragraph 3. Both the Prosecutor and the Deputy Proselritm s
elected by secret ballot by the Assembly of States Parties, to senecfgears, non-renewable. There was no reason
to restrict the age of the Prosecutor or Deputy Prosecutor. In paragraph 8, disqoalglatld be decided on by the
judges of the CourRaragraph 9heuld be deleted?aragraph 10 of article 48auld be dealt with undeapagraph

4 of article 44, taking into account article 68. In article 4tagraph 2, thpidges should appoint the Registfor

a term of nine years.

81. Mr. KROKHMAL (Ukraine) said that article 42, paragraph 3, should include interested States because the case
considered might have some impact on States. He agreed that artideagfsaph 4, was supkrbus. Article 49,
paragraph 3giving immunity to witnesses and experts, was important and must be retained. In article 52, he was in
favour of option 1, on the assumption that the Rules of Procedutevatmhce would have equal legal value with the
Statute.

82. Mr. PEREZ OTERMIN (Uruguay) said thatgragraph 4 of article 4%euld be deleted. The United Nations
had experienced problems with staff on loan or oorsment, especially in peacekeeping operations, because they
were not part of the regular staff. That mistakewd not be repeated with the Court.

83. Mr. AL AWADI (United Arab Emirates), supported bly. CHUKRI (Syrian Arab Republic), said that, in
article 38, paragraph 2, the term of office ¢fidge elected to fill a vacancy should notesd the term of office of
his predecessor. As for article 39, the square brackets in paragraph@u{d)be deleted?aragraph 4 of that article
should be retained.



A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 12

84. In article 42, paragraph 1, the words in bracketsilsl be replaced by “Regulations of the Court and their
annexes”. All the brackets in paragraplin@usd be deleted. Ingsagraph 3, the reference to an interested Statdds
be deleted because States would not be party to tbhequlings.

85. Inarticle 43, paragraph 1, the term “complaintsiidd be deleted and the term “mefds” retained. In paragraph
2, the reference to different legal systems should be keptrdgnaph 4, the reference to the@ippment of the Deputy
Prosecutor should be deleted. The entire texaddgraph 7sould be retained.

86. Atrticle 45, paragraph 4, should be dropped because it could have an adverse impact on the independence of the
Court.

87. Inarticle 47, paragraph 1, the words in square bradketsdsbe replaced by the words “and its annexes”. The
subparagraphs of paragraphduid be replaced by words such as “by the body in which the person concerned
discharged his or her functions”. As for article 5&ggraph 1, he f@ured option 2, with provision for a two-thirds
majority, and the deletion ofapagraph 3. In article 53, paragraph 1, arokie majority should suffice for the
adoption of the Regulations of the Court.

88. Mr. EL MASRY (Egypt), referring to article 43, thought that, to maintain a balance, the President of the Court
and the Prosecutor should not have the same nationality or come from the same geographical group.

89. There could be objections to article 4a&;ggraph 4, since ibald expose the Court to undesirable influence.

90. Mr. QUINTANA (Colombia) associated himself with everything said by the representatives of Jamaica and
Uruguay on pragraph 4 of article 45, whichauld be deleted.

91. Mr. NATHAN (Israel) said that in article 42, paragraph 2, the material in square brdakdtstse kept because,
in the situations described, there might be a conflict of isteréle opposed the inclas in paragraph 3 of “an
interested State”; the right in question should be limited to the Prosecutor and the accused.

92. The wording of article 43 on the Office of the Prosecutor might not be consistent with articleataghagh 3,
the qualifications of the Prosecutor and the Deputy Prosecutor should included 10 years’ practical experience in the
prosecution of criminal cases. Their term of office should be nine years, non-renewable.

93. Concerning paragraph 5, the Prosecutor and the Deputy Proshouldrserve full-time and not engage in any
other occupation of a professional nature; that would lead to a conflict of interests. The bracketed matexgbipip
7 should be retained.

94. The reference in article 47, paragraphhbusd be to the Regulations of the Court. In saragraph (a) of
paragraph 2, a two-thirds majorityauld be required, while in suaagraphs (b) and (c) an ahge majority would
be sulfficient.

95. In article 49, privileges and immunities should apply similarly to judges, Prosecutor, Deputy Prosecutor and
Registrar. In paragraph 3, the imnity referred to in the second and third sentences was absokitelsary for the
proper functioning of the Court.



A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 13

96. Inarticle 53, it should be stated that the Regulations of the Court formed an integral part of the Statute, so that
States parties signing the Statute would already be aware of the contents of the Regulations.

97. Ms. TOMI C (Slovenia) supported the creation in article Zagraph 4, of a “Victims and Witnesdésit”
within the Registry. Only the Registry would be sufficiently neutral to provide that protection. The provisions would
have to be harmonized with those of article @agraph 5.

98. Inarticle 52, she supported the proposal in option 2 that the Rules of Procedure and Evidence should enter into
force upon adoption by the Assembly of States Parties, preferably by an absolute majority of those present and voting.

99. Ms. BAJRAI (Singapore) said that if nationality was to be specified as a ground for exclusamagnaph 2
of article 42 and paragraph 7 of article 43iorals of both the complainant State and the State on whose territory the
offence was alleged to have been committed should be disqualified as judges, Prosecutors and Deputy Prosecutors.

100. Mr. GRAMAJO (Argentina) said that the text of article 42, paragrapi@yld remain as it stood and the
square brackets should be removed. Caniograrticle 44, paragraph 4, the Victims and Witnesgsst should come
under the Secretariat of the Court or the Regyigif the Court, not the Prosecutor’s Office. Article 43, paragraph 10,
should be deleted.

101. Ms. NAGEL BERGER (Costa Rica), referring togpagraph 9 of article 43, said that there must be at least one
adviser on gender violence in the Office of the Prosecutor. The United Nations General Assembly had acknowledged
the importance of the problem of violence against women, yet there were still emirseatyhadid not understand

that gender violence required special treatment.

102. Mr. LAGEZE (France) was in favour of déley the words in brackets in article 3%rpgraph 3 (a). Paragraph
4 could be replaced by a provision saying that, in performing its tasks wrdgraph 3 (a), the Presidenoyuld act
in coordination with the Prosecutor.

103. In article 42, @aragraph 1, he preferred the words gRlations of the Court”, and irepagraph 3 the reference
to “an interested State” should be deleted. Only the Prosecutor or the accused should be able to request the
disqualification of a judge.

104. In article 43, the Prosecutor and Deputy Prosecutorgdsbe elected in the same way as judges and, to ensure
their independence, for the same non-renewable term of nine years. They should exercise their functions on a full-time
basis.

105. Regarding article 44, his preference, in the interests of properensaragvweuld be for ararrangment which,
while according a specific sphere of competence to the Registry, would place it under the Presidency.

106. The Rules of Procedure daddence, in article 52, should be adopted by the Assembly of Statiss by an
absolute majority. They should be negotiated only after the adoption and signature of the Statute by the States
concerned.

107.Mr. MAHMOOD (Pakistan), speaking on article 43, said that the Prosecutor should act only in cases referred
to him by a State. Consequently, the bracketed words in paragraph Ihounogormation related to the alleged
commission a crime should be deleted. The Prosedutotdsbe elected by the States parties by a two-thirds majority.



A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 14

The Deputy Prosecutor could be appointed by the Prosecutor, thus obviating any need for Statesnpestiesdn/
time a Deputy Prosecutor was to be appointed. The Prosecutor and Deputy Prosecutor should hold office for a non-
renewable term of seven years.

108. Under article 47, gragraph 2, subparagraph (a), the removaljofige should be by a two-thirds majority of
States parties. Under surpgraph (b), the removal of the Prosecubmusd be by an absolute majority of States
parties. Under sulgpagraph (c), if the Deputy Prosecutor wascamted by the Prosecutor he should be removed by
the Prosecutor; otherwise, by a majority of States parties. The Registraniiftadgy the Court, should be removed
by a majority of judges or, if elected, by a majority of States parties. The Deputyr&edfisapminted by the
Registrar, Bould be removed by the Regator, if elected, by the States parties.

109. In article 52, he supported the adoption of the Rules of Procedut®idadce by a two-thirds majority of States
parties present and voting.

110.Mr. YEPEZ MARTINEZ (Venezuela) said that the bracketed text in article 38 should be retained. In article 39,
paragraph 3, the bracketed text waseptable except that it should be up to the Registiot the Presidency, to
supervise secretariat staff.

111. All the bracketsh®uld be deleted from article 42aqagraph 2, article 43, paragraphs 1, 5 and 7, and article 44,
paragraph 4. Article 45, paragraph Hosld be deleted. In article 52, he preferred option 2.

112. Ms. VEGA (Peru) said that in article 42, paragrapbr8y the Prosecutor or the accused should have the right
to request the disqualification of a judge. That right should not be given to an interested State, which would not be a
party to the process.

113. Mr. SHARIAT BAGHERI (Islamic Republic of Iran) accepted the text of article 38, paragraph 2, except the
part in square brackets. He supported the entire text of article 39, paragraphdihgdnihe phrase in brackets.
Paragraph 4tould be deleted.

114. In article 42, he agreed witlnagraph 1 and with the entire text of paragraph 2.dd&laccept article 43
provided that it did not give the Prosecutor ex officio powersatagraph 4, the Prosecutor and Deputy Prosecutors
should be elected by States parties.

115. In article 44, the Regrsr should be elected by the Assembly of St&asties and elected for the same non-
renewable term as judges. He was in favour aragraph 4. In article 45, the phrase fmm-governmental
organizations” should be deleted. In article 47, serious misconduct needed to be defined. Decisions to remove judges
were very serious, and should be taken by a two-thirds majority of States parties omtinecregtation of two thirds

of the judges of the Court. Irapagraph 2 (b), the text in brackel®sld be retained, and the first sabagraph (c)

should be deleted. Removal of the Regisbr the Deputy Registranasuld require a majority vote of the judges. He

agreed with paragraph 3 of article 47, and with article 49. In article 52, he wasun ¢ option 1.

116. In article 53, he auld keep the bracketed last sentenceapdgraph 1. The Relations of the Court should be
adopted by a two-thirds majority of the judgearagraphs 2 and 3 werzaptable.



A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 15

117.Ms. SHAHEN (Libyan Arab Jamabhiriya) said that in article 43, paragraph 2, the bracketglahe provision
on the representation of different legal systems should be removedralgrgph 4, the Prosecutor and Deputy
Prosecutor should be elected by anoaliie majority of the States parties. Article 4&rggraph 4,tsould be deleted.

118. Ms. PIBALCHON (Thailand) said that, in article 43, paragraph 4, the Prosecutor and Deputy Prosexutbr s

be elected by secret ballot by an absolute majority of States parties. The excusing and disqualification of the Prosecutor,
dealt with in paragraphs 6 to 8osild be the subject of a septe article, itine with the excusing and disqualification

of judges in article 42. Thirdly, she supportedagraph 9 of article 43 in principle, whethediied in that article

or in the Rules of Procedure and Evidence. She supported the establishment of the Victims and Witnesses Unit.

119. On article 49, the persons referred todaregraph 3sould not remain immune once they had been discharged
from their functions.

120. Ms. RAMOUTAR (Trinidad and Tobago) supported the general thrust of article 43, especially paragraph 3 on
the qualifications of the Prosecutor, which should be consistent with those for judges in respect of criminal trial
experience. The Deputy Prosecutor should be elected in the same manner as the Prosecutorrdihghn&ddibe

elected by the judges for a term of five years, renewatljeonce. The Regisr hould be under the authority of the
President. The judges, the Prosecutor, the Deputy Prosecutor, theaRegidtthe Deputy Registranaild enjoy
diplomatic privileges and immunities. The words in square brackets in article 49, “when engaged in the business of the
Court”, should be deleted, as those officérsutd enjoy such privileges and immunities at all times so that they could
perform their functions independently.

121. In article 39, aragraph 3 (a), the text in square bracketddcbe deleted, as that idea was contained in the term
“due administration of the Court”. The Victims and Witnesses Unit should be established in the Registry of the Court,
since victims or witnesses might be required to testify for either the prosecution or the defence.

122. Mr. FORTUNA (Mozambique) agreed with paragraphs 1 and 2 of article 42. With regaachgrgpph 3, neither

the Prosecutor nor an interested State should have the right to take action on the removal of judges. Regarding article
43, paragraph 4, the age limit for amment as Prosecutor should be lowered. He agreed with the election of the
Registrar by secret bat by the judges under article 44anagraph 2. In article 45, paragraph 1, the President of the
Court should appoint theatt of the Registry. In article 49, the President of the Cdwtilsl be the one to waive the
privileges or immunities of the Regiat, Deputy Registrar and staff of the Registry.

123. Ms. LI Ting (China) said that, in article 43, paragraph 4, the Deputy Prosditgdhe Prosecutor, should be
elected by the States parties. Article 45, paragraphodid be deleted. In article 4%magraph 3, shaiggested the
deletion of the text in brackets. In article 52, paragraph 1,@hlé eccept option 2, but the legal status of the Rules
should remain as under option 1. She was flexible on articleab2gi@aph 3, but any deiga taken should be by a
two-thirds majority.

124.Ms. JOYCE (United States of America) stressed the need for cohesion in the Prosecutor’s Office and also with
respect to the Court as a whole. Election by States parties of the Deputy Prosecutor and the Reddtbe
tantamount to giving them a septe power base. Thabuld undermine the control of the Prosecutor over his or her
Office and possibly the ability of the judges to keep the Ragist check. The Deputy Prosecutbpsld be appointed

by the Prosecutor and the Registrar byjtidges.



A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.15
Page 16

125. Mr. MANIWA (Democratic Republic of the Congo) said that the reference to a three-year period in article 38,
paragraph 2, was arbitrary.j@dge elected to fill a vacancy should be eligible for re-election if less than half of the
predecessor’s term remained to be completed. Articles 39, 43 and 44 should be merged. Ensuring the safety of
witnesses should be a task of the Registnaer the supervision of the President of the Court, with the assistance of

the Prosecutor.

126. In article 42, aragraph 1, the referenckeaosild be to the “Regulations of the Court” rather than “Rules of
Procedure and Evidence”. Regardiregagraph 2, the criten of nationality should be maintained, because a judge

might simply be partial because he had the same nationality as a party to the case in question. A judge should also be
able to disqualify himself in the circumstances covered by that article. Uathgraph 3, any interested party,
including the Prosecutor, the accused, or an interested State, should have the right to request disqualification.

127. In article 43, aragraph 4, the Prosecutor and his deputiesld be elected by secret ballot by a two-thirds
majority of the States present and voting. Under article 44, the Regisiuld be elected by the States parties and
not the judges. The judges, the Prosecutor and the Regixtuld all serve the same renewable term of five years.

128. He agreed with the deletion of article 4&:ggraph 4, ascaeptance of seconde@ftmight result in abuses. In
article 47, paragraph 2, the sad subjpragraph (c)tsould be deleted.

129. In article 49, he agreed with paragraph 1, with the removal of the square brackets, and also sapmyept p
3. In article 52, he agreed with option 2, but a two-thirds majority should be needed.

130. Ms. MAKELA (Finland) said that both the Registrar and the Prosecutor shdaldependent of the Presidency,

and both they and their deputies should be elected by the States parties. States parties should also decide as to their
possible removal from office. She was in favour of the provision in articlea#@gaph 9, that the Prosecutbosld

appoint advisers with legal expertise on specific issues including sexual and gender violence and violence against
children. The Victims and Witnesses Unit should be in a neutral location in the Registry.

131.Ms. BRADY (Australia) said that she would like the deletion of the reference to “an interested State” in
article 42, paragraph 3. Shewd like to retain article 43 gragraph 9, regding the appointment of advisers with
expertise on issues including sexual violence and violence against children. Regarding artasizg#dpip 10, the
provision of protective measures for prosecution witnesses should be dealt with by the Victims and Witnesses Unit
covered by article 44, paragraph 4. That paragraphld be retained. However, the provision in article 4Bagraph

10, requiring the Office of the Prosecutor to includdfstith expertise in trauma, ihing trauma related to crimes

of sexual violence, should also be retained.

132. Mr. Young-wook CHUN (Republic of Korea) said that he would prefer, &mggraph 2 of article 42, not to
include the text in brackets regarding the nationality of the judge. He supported restricting the rdghgriph 3 of
article 42, to request the disqualification of a judge to the Prosecutor and the accusedyripp 1 of article 43, all
the brackets should be removed. He had no problem with the bracketed sxeigraph 9 of article 43. In article 44,
paragraph 2, the Deputy Reg@sthould be appointed by the Reg#st He supported the gurision in article 44,
paragraph 4. Finally, in article 52, paragraph 1, he preferréghdht

The meeting rose at 6.45 p.m.



